
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
MEETING MINUTES 

JULY 7, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Larry Ballin, Selectman 
Brian Prescott, Selectman 
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
Bob and D.J. Lavoie, Residents 
Anna Super, Argus Champion 
Debbie Cross, InterTown Record 
Chad Denning, Recreation Director 
Laura James, Recreation Commissioner 
Keith Pomkoski, Recreation Commissioner 
Gerald Coogan, Recreation Commissioner 
David Seastrand, Police Chief 
 
For Non-Resident Tax Payers Meeting: 
Linda Hardy, Town Clerk/Tax Collector 
Richard Lee, Public Works Director 
Normand Bernaiche, Assessor 
Jason Lyon, Fire Chief 
 
Mark Kaplan opened the regular meeting of the Selectmen at 8 a.m., and the board addressed thirteen 
items of business. 
 
Recreation Department Master Plan 
 
Prior to the meeting, Selectmen received copies of the draft “2008 New London Recreation Department 
Master Plan.” Jessie Levine said that this meeting of the Recreation Commissioners and Selectmen was 
scheduled partly in response to a question received by Selectman Brian Prescott from the Budget 
Committee Chair regarding the status of the Recreation Department’s Master Plan. Chad Denning went 
on to say that though he would like the Department to have its own stand-alone Master Plan, the idea is 
that at least the Trails and Paths section would go to the Town’s updated Master Plan.  At Larry Ballin’s 
suggestion, he agreed that perhaps the entire Recreation Department Master Plan could provide the 
chapter for Recreation in the Town’s updated Master Plan.  
 
Larry Ballin suggested that the section addressing Land/Facilities could include those that the Outing 
Club has to offer including ball fields, and now the middle school site.  Mark Kaplan asked if there is 
positive interaction between the Recreation Department and the Outing Club. Chad Denning said yes, and 
that they have worked together on the British Soccer Club, for example, and the Rec Department is 
leasing playing fields from the Outing Club.  Laura James referred to the section on Community 
Collaboration and Communication. 
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 2 of 9 
 
Chad Denning opened discussion on the five completed and/or proposed to be completed over the next 
five years, sidewalks or bike paths, and noted that he has applied for a Safe Routes to School grant that 
will cover some of the cost.  The Master Plan also lists three bikeways/sidewalks proposed to be 
completed over the next ten years. Larry Ballin asked how much of this is on private land.  Chad Denning 
said they are using for the most part, power line easements, and Jessie Levine pointed out that the hospital 
has offered to use the land it owns under power line easements for trails.  Larry Ballin said there must be 
some sort of agreement with relevant property owners.  
 
Bob Lavoie referred to #2 under Sewer Plant/Frothingham Road Easement Master Plan, and said he 
assumes the park will not be serving as a safety back up to the sewer pumping station as an overflow 
reservoir at the same time it is being used as a park.   
 
Chad said that he would like to do more with COA, as well as NLOC, but would not plan anything that 
would duplicate their programs.  Right now, his department does the Red Sox trips that are popular with 
COA members and other seniors.  Mark Kaplan asked if the Kearsarge Community Center group has also 
talked to him. Chad Denning said not yet. Larry Ballin said interaction between Rec and the KCC might 
be some time out at this point.  Jessie Levine said she does see the potential for a relationship between the 
two, and that would need to be worked out. 
 
Chad Denning went on to say that the Rec Department’s day camp is filled to capacity.  For that they are 
using some of the rooms in the elementary school, and he added that they also have a good relationship 
with the school district and are able to use many of its facilities.   
 
He went on to ask if everyone has noted the Public Works Department improvements at Elkins Beach. An 
8’ dry well was sunk between the post office and the beach house, and after this week’s rainfall, it seemed 
to function efficiently, taking the excess water and protecting the beach sand from being washed away.  
Also, in the process of fixing the drainage and erosion, they removed 12 feet of the stone wall that was 
there and enlarged the beach area. This work was all done by the Public Works Department. Selectmen 
agreed that it was an excellent job, well done.  Larry Ballin asked about the problems that were occurring 
with oil seepage into the area across from Marshalls Garage.  Jessie Levine said they have not heard from 
the State recently.  Chad Denning said that when Richard Lee put in the dry wells, he did not find any oil 
or petroleum there at all.  
 
Chad Denning went on to report that the State has approved the septic system design for Bucklin Beach.  
At this point they will wait until fall to do that.  He reported that the fence there has been fixed and should 
hold for one more year.   
 
Minutes – June 23, 2008 – Larry Ballin moved to approve.  Brian Prescott seconded. No further 
discussion. Motion unanimously approved.   
 
Kearsarge Community Center: Mark Kaplan reported that the Kearsarge Community Center group 
presented an update of its plans at Saturday’s CAC meeting, and made a request for funding from the 
Town. Larry Ballin said they are asking the Town to consider bonding for part of their cost—that is for 
$1.5 million of the projected $3.5-million cost of the Kearsarge Community Center.  He said at the CAC 
meeting, everyone agreed that the concept of a Community Center is a good one, but the expense side—
as presented at that meeting—needs strengthening.  He would suggest that the Town not go forward with 
bonding money for this until the KCC group has all of its portion in the bank. He said the Town needs to 
know the Community Center is going to be able to perform.  He also expressed concern that there was 
some mention of their removing the $350,000 contingency fund if not all funds were raised.  At this 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 3 of 9 
 
meeting, Larry Ballin pointed out that if they do that, and then come up with a shortfall in the first year, 
they could be seeking that shortfall from the Town.   
 
Jessie Levine agreed that the request made at the presentation given at the CAC meeting was for the 
Town to bond $1.5 million of this $3.5 million project. She pointed out that at Saturday’s meeting there 
was a lot of support for the project.  When asked for a show of hands, all 19 members of the CAC voted 
in favor, with one abstention.  Larry Ballin agreed that it met with wide approval at that meeting, but he 
cautioned that the Town has got to be careful that it not come out of this with a huge financial liability.  
Mark Kaplan agreed that there should be a requirement that the group raise its $2 million before the 
voters are asked to approve bonding for the $1.5 million balance.  Jessie Levine pointed out that they still 
have the chicken/egg problem they’ve had all along. The KCC group says it will have difficulty raising 
funds until it definitely has Town support behind them, and the Town has been reluctant to invest any 
more in the KCC until it knows they can raise the funds needed to go forward.  Larry Ballin said that right 
now, the KCC group is still at the same point in fundraising that it was at, at the time of their first 
meeting.  He added that he thinks the Town should pursue with the school district, the possibility of 
owning that middle school building.   
 
Mark Kaplan opened discussion of Bob Lavoie’s email comments.  Bob Lavoie said the KCC group 
really needs to do two things right now: (1) They need to raise their funds to get the project off the 
ground. (He noted that’s different than convincing everyone that it is a good idea.)  (2) They need to have 
a business plan.  He pointed out that the KCC group continues to emphasize that this will be a private 
enterprise, and that it will be self sustaining.  He said they have to do some planning.  Jessie Levine said 
she does have a copy of their financial statement. The group was not ready with it in final form at the time 
of Saturday’s CAC meeting.   
 
Election Law Training: Prior to the meeting, Selectmen received copies of a June 25 letter from the 
Deputy Secretary of State regarding the election law training sessions that will be offered in various 
locations across the State between now and the end of August, as well as a schedule and listing of those, 
and itinerary provided by the HAVA office.  Jessie Levine said that Linda Hardy has indicated that New 
London’s Selectmen may not need training, as they have always attended elections, but that these may be 
directed more toward those towns where officials have not been involved in the past.  Jessie Levine 
pointed out, however, that New London is hosting one of the sessions on July 24 and she encouraged the 
Selectmen to attend if their schedules allowed. 
 
Pole License for TDS Telecom: Jessie Levine explained that TDS is working on a fiber optic overlay of 
their own and would like to put a junction box in the Town’s right of way at the corner of Knight’s Hill 
Road and County Road.  Larry Ballin asked if there is any potential revenue for the Town. Jessie Levine 
said the telecommunication poles and equipment are not taxable (only power company poles are).  She 
said the Town could sell TDS an easement on that right of way; however, town counsel advises against 
that as it would give TDS the right to keep the box in that location in perpetuity.  He recommends giving 
a pole license to TDS instead, which allows the Town to dictate the use of its right-of-way.  Brian 
Prescott moved to approve giving TDS a pole license to place a junction box at the described location, 
contingent upon final paperwork being completed.  Larry Ballin seconded. No further discussion. Motion 
unanimously approved.   
 
Scheduling:  
 
Joint Sewer Board Meeting-Jessie Levine said the next meeting, which is on Thursday, July 31 at 5:30 
PM, will probably be devoted to discussion of hiring an engineering firm to review the entire operation.  



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 4 of 9 
 
Larry Ballin mentioned the CIP meeting at 7:00 PM, and said that he hopes the Sunapee meeting will be 
short enough to allow attendance at both. 
 
Selectmen agreed to reschedule the July 21 Selectmen’s meeting to July 23 at 8:00 AM, since Jessie 
Levine will be out of town on the 21st. 
 
The charette for Elkins has been scheduled for August.1.  Clough Harbour will officiate, and UVLSPC 
will also be there.   
 
The contact sensitive meeting re Crocketts Corner will be at 4 this afternoon in this room, with the 
follow-up scheduled for Thursday, August 14 at 4:00 PM at the Fire Station.  In response to D.J. Lavoie’s 
question, Jessie Levine said the objective is brainstorm and come up with both short and long term 
solutions for that corner.  Larry Ballin pointed out that it is a good sign that this has been initiated by the 
State. 
 
Fiber Optic Project: Jessie Levine said that on Sunday, July 13, the town managers from Hanover and 
Enfield, a resident from Lyme, and she will be going to Virginia to look at three municipal fiber projects, 
and do some research.  Mark Kaplan said one of their main questions should be, where did the funding for 
the project come from. Jessie Levine agreed, and added that they will be looking at how successful the 
projects are.  
 
Bids to Paint Town Office: Prior to the meeting, Selectmen received copies of the request for proposals 
and the specs for work to be done on both the interior and exterior of  this building.  Jessie Levine said the 
town building maintenance fund now has $60,259 in it. She received three bids to paint the entire interior 
according to spec (Plan A), and four bids to paint only certain rooms according to spec (Plan B).  She 
received four bids to paint the exterior, which include extras as removing protruding nails, cleaning 
gutters, other miscellaneous maintenance items.   
 
She noted that the lowest bid for the exterior work came from BSA Painting Co--$10,595, but she feels 
they may have misunderstood the specs, and included only two sides of the building.  The second lowest 
bid for the exterior came from College Pro--$11,990, but again she feels they may not have thoroughly 
understood the specs.  The third lowest bid for the exterior came from DiMauro--$33,200, but they cannot 
do it this year, and Selectmen agreed at this meeting that the project should not be put off another year.  
Jessie Levine said the cupola also needs work. Larry Ballin observed that there are two very low bids 
here, and two high, and he feels the real price must be somewhere in the middle of those.  Brian Prescott 
asked about insurance.  Jessie Levine said that only DiMauro submitted insurance papers with the bids.  
She would not award a contract to any company before it submitted insurance papers.   
 
Selectmen agreed that the exterior painting job will go to Lake Sunapee Painting for $33,400, pending 
submission of their insurance papers. Jessie Levine suggested that if they cannot do it this year, she could 
advertise this again.   
 
Selectmen also agreed to go with Sargent & Hunter for Plan B of the interior painting--$13,000, also 
pending submission of insurance papers.  If Sargent & Hunter cannot do it this year, that job will go to 
DiMauro for $13,700.   
 
Police Department Repair: Jessie Levine reported that the independent insurance appraiser sent out by 
Local Government Center evaluated the replacement cost to be $15,175 with a depreciation/holdback 
(15%) of $2,276.25.  That would be less the Town’s $1000 deductible. She said upon completion of the 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 5 of 9 
 
work, they should also get that holdback reimbursement.  She also said that $5000 is for the glass.  She 
pointed out that that allows $800 to replace the two doors in kind—that is with hollow metal doors. 
 
The Police Department requested bids to replace and repair with solid steel doors instead.  Bruss 
Construction submitted a bid for $19,000 (for two, including installation).  Trumbull Nelson’s bid states 
that they would replace the two “doors fames…” for $16,137, and she is not sure if the missing comma is 
a typographical error, or if they do not include replacement of the actual doors there, but just the frames.  
She asked if Selectmen want to go forward and do work additional to just repairing the damage incurred 
at the May 2 incident. Any overage and painting would have to come out of the Town Hall Basement 
Maintenance Fund. That now has a balance of $163,000.   
 
Brain Prescott asked if they think the locks popped too easily during the incident. David Seastrand said 
yes, but to some extent that happened because of the “play” in the hollow doors, and the fact that the 
mechanism in the door frame was not set correctly to the door. Larry Ballin asked if he feels that if the 
hollow doors with locks and hardware had been properly installed, they would they have been okay.   
 
The questions are: 

• Should the hollow steel doors be replaced with solid doors? 

• Should they replace the bullet proof glass?  David Seastrand said that glass was given to them at 
one point, and they did anticipate using it somewhere in the future.  Though it was not being used 
at the time of the incident, it was part of the damage incurred in the incident. 

 
Selectmen agreed to go with the solid steel doors, with the understanding that David Seastrand will 
present a proposal to replace a third door with solid steel to the CIP, but to eliminate replacement of the 
bullet proof glass at this time.  The Selectmen deferred the final decision to Chief Seastrand and Jessie 
Levine. 
 
Shultz Conservation Land: Selectmen are in receipt of a letter from Town Counsel assuring them that 
there is no illegality in going forward with this purchase, though the size of the parcel after survey turned 
out to be much smaller than estimated in the warrant article. The letter does state that the Board of 
Selectmen would be within their right to ask the Conservation Commission to open a dialogue with the 
seller regarding the size discrepancy.  Larry Ballin suggested submitting a letter to the Conservation 
Commission referencing that letter, and respectfully requesting them to do that. Mark Kaplan agreed, 
pointing out that the difference is substantial—15 acres, or 25%.   
__ 
 
Non-resident Taxpayers’ Meeting 

 

Mark Kaplan opened this meeting at 9 a.m., and introduced the Board of Selectmen, Department Heads, 
and reporters who were present at the meeting.  
 
He began the meeting with a briefing of the roundabout at County and Newport roads, referring to the 
architect’s color rendering, and emphasizing that the objective of the project is safety for both pedestrians 
and vehicles.  Larry Ballin explained that the intersection project itself is being preceded by some water 
main replacement, and that constitutes the work to date.  Actual roundabout construction will begin after 
Hospital Days in August, and they anticipate a completion date of October 31.   
 
Martine Richards asked what is going on at the hospital.  Mark Kaplan said the Hospital is engaged in a 
$21 million renovation and expansion program with an anticipated finish date of April 2009.   



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 6 of 9 
 
 
Anne Wustrow asked how far back the islands in the intersection will extend, and will traffic still be 
required to stop for pedestrians in the crosswalks.  Jessie Levine said the cross walks will be 30 feet back 
from the circle, and traffic should still stop for pedestrians. Mark Kaplan said pedestrians always have the 
right of way, and the advantage of the islands is that they allow pedestrians to cross one lane of traffic at a 
time.   
 
Jessie Levine added that the project will include extensions of sidewalks.  On Hubert’s side, the sidewalk 
will be extended around the corner toward the Medical Office Building. On Newport and County Roads, 
they are going to extend the sidewalk up both entrances to Hilltop.   
 
Judy Cameron opened discussion of valuations, and property taxes, pointing out that given the economy, 
and the fact that properties are not selling now, she feels that waterfront properties like hers -- those that 
have no town services -- should be seeing a reduction. Jessie Levine said that prior to the valuation in 
2002, the Town had not done a reassessment for 15 years.  At that point, the State ordered New London to 
update the value of waterfront properties, and to make sure all properties on New London are assessed to 
market value.  Selectmen pointed out that even if valuations were to go down because of the market, the 
tax rate would have to go up in order for the Town to meet its school, county and town budget 
requirements.  The Town must pass a balanced budget, and they have to stay within the amounts passed at 
Town Meeting.   
 
Martine Richards asked about the donor town situation.  Jessie Levine said donor towns have been 
eliminated by state legislation, but may be brought back.  Mark Kaplan added that in New Hampshire, the 
broad base taxes are not there.  Martine Richards asked what percentage of New London’s budget was 
due to its donor town status.  Jessie Levine said a half million, or 10%, or $1 on the tax rate.   
 
Mark Kaplan said they will be meeting this afternoon with representatives from the State regarding some 
long and short term solutions to the dangerous intersection at Crockett’s Corner.  Martine Richards asked 
what local residents suggest.  Jessie Levine said that people feel the lanes are too wide and allow for 
excessive speeds approaching the intersection.  A quick fix would be to eliminate the passing lanes.   
 
Chad Denning described the face lift at Elkins Beach, and the new sand and the fence repair at Bucklin, as 
well as the septic system proposed to go in at Bucklin in fall.  Mark Wendling asked if sunfish and kayaks 
can be brought to Elkins.  Chad Denning said he will look into that. He said one challenge is that they 
have found it requires a full time staff member to handle the requests for those.  Mark Wendling asked if 
they could be tried out at Elkins without a staff member to see how it goes.  He asked if they plan to 
acquire more. Chad Denning said they would like to purchase some more kayaks.  He feels he can acquire 
some used sunfish by donation.   
 
Mark Kaplan opened discussion of the proposed Kearsarge Community Center, by pointing out to the 
meeting that the middle school has made its move to the new facility in Sutton.  The Outing Club is 
leasing the gym and other portions of the old middle school in New London, and now the Kearsarge 
Community Center will be leasing other portions of that building instead.  The KCC presented plans to 
last Saturday’s Citizens’ Advisory Committee meeting, and included a request that the Town consider 
bonding a portion of the start up costs.  Specifically, the KCC requests that the Town bond $1.5 million of 
the $3.5 million cost. KCC will fundraise the balance.  Larry Ballin pointed out that though the idea of a 
community center has been around for years, and has wide support, the idea of the Town raising part of 
the cost has just come before the Selectmen and is still under some discussion.  
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 7 of 9 
 
Mark Kaplan said that there will be a charette in Elkins at the end of the month.  The issues to be included 
are people’s vision for that neighborhood, the future of the Mesa building and the dam behind it. Jessie 
Levine said that some years ago, the Town received approval from voters to purchase and maintain that 
dam. The sticky point, however, is that the building actually rests upon the dam.  There has been some 
discussion of the Town purchasing the building as well, but right now they are trying to figure out how to 
separate the building and the dam.  She said the owner is willing to pay for that, but where does the dam 
end and the building begin? 
 
Martine Richards asked what Elkins’ relationship to New London is. Selectmen said they are really the 
same.  Larry Ballin pointed out that historically, Elkins was an industrial or mill village, and has many 
(mostly man-made) rills and streams through it, making it essentially an island. There are special septic 
system issues to consider in Elkins. On the other hand, there may be potential for some hydro-power 
there.   
 
Larry Ballin informed the meeting that the Planning Board continues to work toward an updated Master 
Plan, and will have another work session tomorrow night.  Selectmen said New London has been on top 
of planning, because it does update its Master Plan every ten years. The Master Plan is the vision for the 
Town, and the Planning Board’s objective is to assure that the zoning ordinance and other regulations are 
coordinated with it.   
 
Judy Cameron returned to the issue of assessments. She asked if their understanding is correct that 
although sales are down, and she would have difficulty selling her property, those facts are not considered 
in the assessment.  Jessie Levine agreed, in assessing they do not consider sales that are not happening.  
She pointed out, however, that in New London, the numbers for actual sales have not backed down.  Mark 
Kaplan agreed that assessments do not tell you what is not going on. Assessments must be based on 
market activity.  He said that when properties do sell in New London, including on the lakes, they are still 
selling high. Martine Richards asked how far back they look (into sales data).  Jessie Levine said in 
assessing a property, they look at sales of comparative properties going back two years.  Norm Bernaiche 
said his office does an annual ratio study considering the classes of properties and comparing sales with 
assessments. They also compare listing numbers with sale numbers. He said that so far, New London’s 
assessment numbers are performing well (that is, are comparing closely to the sales).  Right now, the 
Town is assessed at 89.5% of market value.  He added that they have two other towns on the same lake –
Newbury and Sunapee—with which they can compare.  Judy Cameron asked if Newbury and Sunapee 
have been reassessed at the same time as New London.  Yes.   
 
Jessie Levine said that the mandate is that every five years, the Town must assure that its valuations are 
equitable with market numbers.  The Town’s next compliance date will be in 2010. She said, however, 
that an owner does not need to wait for the Town wide process to appeal for an abatement.  Abatement 
applications are due as of March 1 following the tax bill. 
 
At the end of the meeting, Mark Wendling commended Town officials and Department Heads for their 
work.  Non-residents’ meeting adjourned at 9:50 a.m. 
__ 
 
Selectmen returned to their regular meeting. 
 
Committee Reports: Larry Ballin reported that the biggest issues addressed at the Planning Board’s last 
meeting were some changes to the Hospital’s site plan.   
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 8 of 9 
 
Jessie Levine reported that the Energy Committee continues to pursue the idea of wind turbines.  She 
suggests formation of a subcommittee to look at some options for amending the zoning ordinance’s height 
restriction, and she suggested this could be done without waiting for completion of the master plan 
update.  It may or may not be preferable to amend the ordinance rather than deal with many individual 
variances.  A subcommittee would draft wording for such an amendment, and give everyone a chance to 
see what the options would look like. Larry Ballin said his concern would be with a property owner 
putting up an 80-foot high tower in his yard, that his neighbors have to look at, but from which they 
derive no benefit.  Jessie Levine agreed. The amendment would have to consider lot size, proximity of 
abutters, etc. There would be a public hearing.   
 
She reported that the intersection continues to progress well.  County Road has received it base coat for 
114 to Newport Road, the top coat will not go on until later. This week crews continue work on the water 
line from Newport Road down to the hospital. Installing and testing that will take three to four weeks. At 
same time, they begin curbing work for the sidewalk on County Road, but she has been assured that no 
work at the intersection will interfere with the triathlon. After August 1, they will begin excavation for the 
roundabout.  
 
Larry Ballin reported that he and Mark Kaplan met with Rich Lougee of Senator Gregg’s office last week 
and they discussed roads, funds, and proposed changes in Elkins. They learned from Mr. Lougee that 
towns in the North Country have obtained some grants for a wireless broadband system.   
 
At 10:10 a.m., Selectmen voted to enter non-public session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 ( c).  Roll call 
vote: Kaplan – yes; Ballin – yes; Prescott – yes. 
 
At 10:20, Selectmen returned to regular session and signed the following items: 
 
Applications for Building Permits: 
 

• EXTENSION: New London Hospital, 273 County Road (Map & Lot 072-016-000) permission to 
extend construction trailers – Permit #07-073 – Approved. 

• EXTENSION: New London Hospital, 273 County Road (Map & Lot 072-016 & 017-000 & 059-004-
000) continuation of renovation to hospital/site work & parking reconfiguration. – Permit #07-080 – 
Approved. 

• Chamber of Commerce, 328 Main St. (Map & Lot 084-009-000) erect new booth w/handicapped 
access, restroom, porch – Permit #08-077 – Approved. 

• Myron & Rose Simon, 477 Forest Acres Road, (Map & Lot 119-016-000) erosion control for septic – 
Permit #08-078 – Approved. 

• Alfred & Dolores Blumstein, Forest Acres Road, (Map & Lot 119-017-000) erosion control for septic 
– Permit #08-079 – Approved. 

• James & Kathryn Muirhead, 772 Bunker Road  (Map & Lot 076-016-000) install replacement sewage 
disposal system – Permit#08-080 – Approved. 

• Jane & Arthur Boland, 1519 Little Sunapee Road (Map & Lot 030-005-000) build 3’ high solid wall 
inside screen porch -  Permit #08-081 -  Approved. 

• Jon B. Nelson, 112 Parkside Road (Map & Lot 073-009-000) construction of new 24x24 garage -  
Permit #08-082 - Approved. 

• Alan & Kathryn Munro, 675 Main Street (Map & Lot 096-005-000) interior remodel of bath, closets, 
painting and moving some partitions Permit #08-083 - Approved. 

• Martha Regan-Smith, 1310 Little Sunapee Road (Map & Lot 031-010-000) 14x22 bedroom addition  
Permit #08-084 - Approved. 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
July 7, 2008 
Page 9 of 9 
 

• Jane Hollinger Revocable Trust, 15 Highland Ridge (Map & Lot 145-001-015) remodel kitchen new 
cabinets, remove 2 closets, make ½ wall  Permit #08-085 - Approved. 

• John Belko, Todd Farm Unit #4, (Map & Lot 130-022-000) construction of new 3 bedroom wooden 
home – Permit #08-086 – Approved. 

 
Applications for Temporary Sign Permits: 
 

• Kearsarge Community Presbyterian Church, 82 King Hill Rd. (Map& Lot 122-019-000) 36x24 sign 
evening performance July 25, 7:00 pm – Approved. 

• Chamber of Commerce, 328 Main St. (Map & Lot 084-009-000) 2 signs 1) wood frame “future 
home” 2) metal post with thermometer – Approved. 

• The Fells, 456 Route 103A, Newbury – 6’square sandwich board to be placed at information booth 
“Hay Day @ the Fells Sat. Aug. 16th  – Approved. 

• New London Garden Club, - 6’ square sandwich board to be placed at information booth “Antique 
Show, July 26th, 9-4” – Approved. 

• Our Lady of Fatima Church, 724 Main St. (Map & Lot 096-009-000) 2x2 sandwich board – Attic 
Treasure Sale Saturday 7/26 – Approved 

• The Fells, 456 Route 103A, Newbury – 6’square sandwich board to be placed at information booth 
“The Fells Area Garden Tour, Sat. July 19, 10-4  – Approved. 
 

Other: 

• Disbursement & payroll voucher week of 7/07/08 -- Approved. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Sarah A. Denz 
Recording Secretary 


